
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

   
     

    
        

  
  

  
 

   
 

  
 

  
          

    
   

 
  

 
   

  
 

 
     

    
      

 
     

     
  

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting 

Collins Building 
2051 E Paul Dirac Drive 
Tallahassee, FL 32310 

Tuesday, July 20, 2021 
11:00am – 1:00pm 

Agenda 

The meeting will be live streamed on our Facebook page at: 
https://www.facebook.com/InnovationParkTLH. Due to the ongoing Coronavirus/COVID-19 pandemic, 
anyone wishing to address the Committee may appear in person (attendance in the room may be limited) 
or submit written comments by 9:00am the day before the scheduled meeting date so that the comments can 
be distributed to the committee members. Comments submitted after this time (up to the time of the meeting) 
will be accepted and included in the official record of the meeting. Email comments to: publicinput@inn-
park.com and reference the meeting title and date in the subject line. Include your name and contact 
information. All times below are approximate. 

1. Call to Order 

2. Introduction of Guests 

3. Approval of Participation by Electronic Means 
In accordance with the Bylaws, there being a quorum of members present in person, the members of 
the Board present in person are required to approve participation by those participating via Electronic 
Means acknowledging that the COVID-19 pandemic constitutes extraordinary circumstances. 

4. Modifications to the Agenda 

5. Public Comment 
Any public comment received prior to the meeting will be provided to the Committee members in 
addition to any in-person public comment. 

6. Approval of Draft Meeting Minutes, May 18, 2021 (Attachment A) 

7. RFP 21-02 Asphalt Paving Services (Attachments B1-B5) 
Staff received two responses to RFP 21-02 for Asphalt Paving Services to repair and resurface the 
parking and driveway services surrounding the Collins, Morgan, and Johnson buildings.  A summary 
of pricing proposals and the responses are attached.  The low bidder’s proposed price was $192,115. 
The proposed prices are valid for 90 days through October 5, 2021. The approved budget for the 
project was $89,385 and based on a cost estimate prepared in mid-2020. Staff believes that higher 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 1 of 113

https://www.facebook.com/InnovationParkTLH
https://park.com
https://www.facebook.com/InnovationParkTLH


 
  

      
      

  
        

      
 

    
   

     
 

       
  

   

    
    

   
   

 
  

  
   

   
    

    
  

       
      

      
 

      
   

   
    

    
  

  
   

   

than budgeted costs are due to COVID impacts on supply chain and labor costs. Staff has identified 
the following options and recommends option 4: 

1. Accept the low bidder’s proposal and amend the budget to reflect the proposed price. 
2. Cancel the RFP and present to the Board to reissue an RFP when market conditions improve 

or indicate that they are not improving within 12 months. 
3. Cancel the RFP and solicit Informal Bids for less than $50,000 to repair the worst of the 

damaged surfaces and include in the next fiscal year budget the cost to resurface within 12 
months. 

4. Refer the issue to the Budget Committee, which meets in September, to consider the impact on 
the Budget for next year and to make a recommendation to the Executive Committee which 
meets in September. Considering that the proposals expire before the October Board 
meeting, at the August 2021 Board meeting request that the Board authorize the Executive 
Committee to execute an agreement with the low bidder, prior to expiration of the proposal, 
at its discretion and considering the recommendation of the Budget Committee. 

5. Other recommendations of the Executive Committee. 

8. Treasury Management-ACH Payments/Wire Transfer Policy (Attachments C1-C3) 
Staff requests approval of policy and bylaws amendments to permit the Executive Director and 
Talcor’s Director of Property Accounting (authorized staff) to pay any amounts owed by the authority 
via electronic ACH payments or wire transfer, or to wire transfer funds between its bank and 
investment accounts.  The bank’s treasury management security controls require all electronic ACH 
payments and wire transfers to be initiated by authorized staff and approved by the other authorized 
staff. Amounts over $10,000 shall require authorization of two Board officers emailed to both 
authorized staff with the email authorization documentation retained with each such invoice. 

9. Ratification of Equipment Purchase and Payment Using Knight Grants Funds (Attachments D1-D4) 
The Executive Director requests ratification of his decision to sole source purchasing used lab 
equipment and to pay for the equipment via ACH with $35,000 in grant funds.  The grant deadline 
was 6/30/21 after previously receiving an extension due to COVID.  Recent staff turnover delayed 
identification of equipment specifications that were finished just prior to the deadline after soliciting 
input from current lab tenants. Used equipment was selected to try to maximize the equipment 
purchased and a sole source purchase was made because of the challenges comparing specs and 
conditions of each piece. The used equipment dealer was recommended by a lab tenant who has 
previously purchased from the supplier, and the tenant also provided input as to the appropriate cost 
of equipment.  The vendor required payment in advance. To meet the grant deadline payment was 
made via ACH.  The ACH payment was initiated electronically by the Executive Director and 
approved electronically by Talcor’s Director of Property Accounting. 

10. North Florida Innovation Labs (NFIL) Cost Estimate and Funding Options (Attachment E) 
Architects have provided the attached preliminary cost estimate for the NFIL facility. Based on 
existing funding of approximately $17 million, this estimate indicates a $4 million funding shortfall. 
Staff will present funding options under consideration, recommendations from the NFIL Oversight 
Committee, and steps taken to-date to attempt to fund the shortfall. 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 2 of 113



  
    

 
  

   
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  

11. Chair’s Report 
a. Next Fiscal Year’s Slate of Officers 

12. Staff Reports 
a. Executive Director 
b. Director of North Florida Innovation Labs 

13. New Business 

14. Adjourn 

UPCOMING MEETINGS AND EVENTS 

Board of Governors Meeting 
Tuesday, August 3, 2021 

11:00am – 1:30pm 

Executive Committee Meeting 
Tuesday, September 21, 2021 

11:00am – 1:00pm 

TechTopics 
Tuesday, August 24, 2021 

11:00am – 12:00pm 

TechGrant 2021 
Thursday, October 21, 2021 

5:00pm – 7:30pm 
Goodwood Museum & Gardens Carriage House 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 3 of 113



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting 

Collins Building 
2051 E Paul Dirac Drive 
Tallahassee, FL 32310 

Tuesday, May 18, 2021 
11:00am – 1:00pm 

DRAFT Minutes 

Members in Attendance In-Person: Kimberly Moore, Dave Ramsay, Kevin Graham. Sonjoy Goswami 

Members in Attendance Virtually: None. 

Members Not in Attendance: None. 

Guests: Ron Miller, Bill Lickson, Naomi Molina, Peggy Bielby (LCRDA Staff); Steve Goudi, Nova 
Engineering and Environmental Consulting. 

1. Call to Order
Kimberly Moore called the meeting to order at 11:03am.

2. Introduction of Guests
All present introduced themselves.

3. Approval of Participation by Electronic Means
As all members were in attendance, no approval of participation by electronic means was necessary.

4. Modifications to the Agenda
Dave Ramsay asked to add a fourth option proposing a counteroffer: Item 10 d., to be discussed when
the General Counsel Contract was addressed by the committee.
Kevin Graham offered a motion to approve the modification. Dave Ramsay seconded the motion
which passed unanimously.

5. Public Comment
None.

6. Approval of Draft Meeting Minutes, November 17, 2020
Dave Ramsay offered a motion to approve the meeting minutes. Kevin Graham seconded the motion
which passed unanimously.

7. Compensation Committee Conclusions and Recommendations
The Authority’s Compensation Committee recommends approval of the following:
a. The Compensation Committee requests approval of its recommendation to amend the Employee

Policy to include the attached Telework Policy section.

Attachment A 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 4 of 113



b. As a result of the Compensation Committee questions regarding applicability of the Federal Family 
and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), staff requests approval of the attached FMLA policy. 

c. The Compensations Committee requests the approval of its changes to the attached Executive 
Director Evaluation Form and to engage the Board to edit section 10 “Goal achievement”.  

Ron Miller and Kim Moore reviewed the items and explained the Compensation Committee’s 
discussions and recommendations. Dave Ramsay stated that Goal Achievement (section 10.a.–e.) 
should also include: f. achieving revenue generation and expense control and g. maintaining of internal 
controls. Since the current ED evaluation period ends in four months, these financial related goal 
changes will be implemented for the next ED evaluation period in FY21-22. 
After discussion, Kevin Graham offered a motion to approve all three items as modified and to be 
placed on the Board consent agenda. Dave Ramsay seconded the motion which passed unanimously. 
 

8. Elevator Modernization Consulting Services 
The Board of Governors previously approved a budget item of $70,000 for fiscal year 2021 to 
modernize the elevator in the Morgan Building. The same amount is expected to be budgeted in 2022 
to modernize the elevator in the Johnson Building. The current year budget did not include funds for 
consulting services for the development of a technical scope of work and other services necessary for 
the development of a Request for Proposals to perform the modernization and oversight of the project.  
Due to the specialized complexity and safety requirements of the project, staff requests approval of a 
budget not to exceed $15,000 to solicit informal bids to perform said consulting services for BOTH 
elevators. 
Kevin Graham offered a motion to approve an additional $15,000 to procure the consulting services 
with direction that the amount be offset in either FY20-21 or FY 21-22 by adjusting some other deferred 
maintenance item that does not impact safety in the way that elevators do. Dave Ramsay seconded the 
motion which passed unanimously. 

 

9. RFP 21-02 Paving Services 
Staff requests approval to advertise and issue RFP 21-02 for Paving Services as further described in the 
solicitation and in accordance with the budget previously approved by the Board of Governors.  
Dave Ramsay offered a motion to approve the RFP. Kevin Graham seconded the motion which passed 
unanimously. 

 

10. General Counsel Contract 
General Counsel Melissa VanSickle’s prior firm Clark, Partington, et al. (now Nelson Mullins Broad 
and Cassel) was originally contracted for services October 1, 2014. Since that time, the Authority has 
agreed to annual renewals without any increase in hourly rates.  Counsel has proposed to extend the 
agreement for one year along with the attached rate schedule to be effective October 1, 2021. 
Staff requests approval of one of the following options: 
a. Accept the proposed rate schedule and amend the agreement to extend the term one-year effective 

October 1, 2021, and place on the consent agenda for the next Board of Governors meeting. 
b. Issue a Request for Qualifications to solicit responses from firms interested in providing General 

Counsel Services for the Authority beginning October 1, 2021. 
c. Refer the question to the full Board of Governors at its next meeting. 
Dave Ramsay offered a motion to modify the agenda to add and approve an additional option: item 
10.d. “Make a counteroffer to the proposed hourly rates:  $300 for partners, $220 for associates, $125 

Attachment A 
Page 2 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 5 of 113



for paralegals, effective October 1, 2021, and if accepted, extend the term for one year with an option 
for two additional one-year extensions. If the counteroffer is not accepted, then issue an RFQ as set 
forth in item 10.b.” Kevin Graham seconded the motion which passed unanimously. 

 

11. Chair’s Report  
Kimberly Moore reported that at the next meeting she will ask the Board to discuss masking, virtual 
option and in-person meeting plans going forward, and officer nominations.  

 

12. Staff Reports 
a. Executive Director  

Ron Miller thanked Sonjoy Goswami, who is resigning following the August 3, 2021 Board of 
Governors meeting, for his service. Leon County will begin the nominating process. The IPTLH 
501(c)(3) application is currently being reviewed by Thomas Howell Ferguson. NFIL design 
development should be complete July 7, 2021 and will be reviewed by the NFIL Oversight 
Committee the following week. Both Nhu Energy and Danfoss are working with the NFIL project 
engineers to see if they can be a part of the design, or potentially build in options for the future. 

b. Director of North Florida Innovation Labs 
Bill Lickson reported that as of today, day 22, he is reviewing at current facilities and programs 
and explained how important the 501(c)(3) will be to funding. He also reviewed potential grants 
and other funding opportunities he is pursuing, as well as his ongoing community engagement and 
outreach efforts. 

c. Director of Marketing & Engagement 
Naomi Molina provided updates on the Tech Topics held on April 20, 2021 and scheduled for 
June 15, 2021. TechGrant applications are in and the judges are reviewing them. Finalists will be 
announced on June 2, 2021. She continues to work on TechGrant sponsorships and the marketing 
plan. 
 

13. New Business 
None. 

 

14. Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 12:12pm. 

 

Attachment A 
Page 3 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 6 of 113



 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

RFP 21-02 Asphalt Paving Services 

RFP Response List 

July 12, 2021 

The following companies have responded to RFP 21-02 along with their proposed pricing: 

1. Capital Asphalt, Inc.; $296,400. 
2. North Florida Asphalt, Inc.; $192,115. 

Submitted by: 

Ronald J. Miller, Jr. 
Executive Director 

Attachment B1 
Page 1 of 1

2051 E. PAUL DIRAC DRIVE • TALLAHASSEE, FL • 32310 • 850-575-0343 • Innovation-Park.com 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 7 of 113

https://Innovation-Park.com


Attachment B2 
Page 1 of 25

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

ASPHALT PAVING SERVICES 

RFP NO. 21-02 

NORTH FLORIDA ASPHALT, INC. 

2908 PLANT STREET 

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32304 

0# (850) 575-7228 

F# (850) 575-1835 

CONTACT: Jacob Dulworth, Estimator 

M# (850) 933-7376 
iacob@northfloridaasphalt.com 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 8 of 113

mailto:iacob@northfloridaasphalt.com


Attachment B2 
Page 2 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 9 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 3 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 10 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 4 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 11 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 5 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 12 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 6 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 13 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 7 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 14 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 8 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 15 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 9 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 16 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 10 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 17 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 11 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 18 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 12 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 19 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 13 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 20 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 14 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 21 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 15 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 22 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 16 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 23 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 17 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 24 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 18 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 25 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 19 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 26 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 20 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 27 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 21 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 28 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 22 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 29 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 23 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 30 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 24 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 31 of 113



Attachment B2 
Page 25 of 25

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 32 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 1 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 33 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 2 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 34 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 3 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 35 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 4 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 36 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 5 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 37 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 6 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 38 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 7 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 39 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 8 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 40 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 9 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 41 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 10 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 42 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 11 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 43 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 12 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 44 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 13 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 45 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 14 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 46 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 15 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 47 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 16 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 48 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 17 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 49 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 18 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 50 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 19 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 51 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 20 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 52 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 21 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 53 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 22 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 54 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 23 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 55 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 24 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 56 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 25 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 57 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 26 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 58 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 27 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 59 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 28 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 60 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 29 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 61 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 30 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 62 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 31 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 63 of 113



Attachment B3 
Page 32 of 32

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 64 of 113



Attachment B4 
Page 1 of 5

7/12/2021 10:34 AM 

INNOVATION PARK (innvtion) 

Budget Comparison 
Period = May 2021 

Book = Accrual 

YTD Actual  YTD Budget  Variance  Annual 
3000-0000  INCOME 

3050-0000  INCOME - OPERATING 

3110-0000
 Rent 

546,408.24 516,910.40 29,497.84 743,568.56 

3114-5000
 Operating Expense Reimbursement 

4,635.31 29,648.00 -25,012.69 30,872.00 

3115-0000
 CAM 

41,720.40 41,722.00 -1.60 62,583.00 

3220-0000
 Interest Income 

24,214.36 28,095.00 -3,880.64 40,339.00 

3305-0000
 TechForce Revenue 

99.00 1,000.00 -901.00 1,000.00 

3306-0000
 Other Program Income 

8,250.00 15,500.00 -7,250.00 15,500.00 

3306-0100
 Grant Revenue 

195.00 90,000.00 -89,805.00 90,000.00 

3310-0000
 Other Income 

6,536.84 0.00 6,536.84 0.00 

3315-0000
 Sales Tax Discount 

55.65 0.00 55.65 0.00 

3540-0000
 Electricity Pass Thru 

173.36 0.00 173.36 0.00 

3990-0000  TOTAL REVENUE 632,288.16 722,875.40 -90,587.24 983,862.56 

4000-0000  OPERATING EXPENSES 

4400-0000
 PAYROLL EXPENSE 4401-0000
 Executive Director-Authority 

103,333.28 103,336.00 2.72 155,004.00 

4402-0000
 Director Business Inc 

67,301.05 73,548.00 6,246.95 111,044.00 

4403-0000
 Salary - Director PC 

30,525.00 30,600.00 75.00 46,200.00 

4404-0000
 Payroll Taxes - Authority 

15,874.61 15,927.00 52.39 24,939.00 

4405-0000
 Worker's Compensation-Authority 

1,863.36 2,254.00 390.64 3,398.00 

4406-0000
 Employee Benefits-Authority 

60,597.54 64,235.00 3,637.46 96,651.00 

4410-0000
 Wages - Administrative 

13,235.05 13,725.00 489.95 20,829.00 

4490-0000  TOTAL PAYROLL EXPENSE 292,729.89 303,625.00 10,895.11 458,065.00 

4600-0000
 UTILITIES 4605-0000
 Electric 

53,569.75 55,050.00 1,480.25 90,134.00 

4620-0000
 Utility - Turn On Fees 

37.00 0.00 -37.00 0.00 

4625-0000
 Natural Gas 

22.26 0.00 -22.26 0.00 

4627-0000
 Natural Gas-Vacant 

131.11 0.00 -131.11 0.00 

Page 1 of 5 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 65 of 113



Attachment B4 
Page 2 of 5

7/12/2021 10:34 AM 

INNOVATION PARK (innvtion) 

Budget Comparison 
Period = May 2021 

Book = Accrual 

YTD Actual  YTD Budget  Variance  Annual 
4635-0000

 Refuse Collection 

5,337.43 4,995.00 -342.43 7,283.00 

4640-0000
 Water/Sewer 

2,897.51 5,068.00 2,170.49 7,608.00 

4642-0000
 Non CAM Water/Sewer 

1,654.93 0.00 -1,654.93 0.00 

4648-0000
 Irrigation - Utility 

448.16 517.00 68.84 777.00 

4649-0000
 Irrigation-NonCAM 

342.48 0.00 -342.48 0.00 

4650-0000
 Stormwater 

2,306.40 2,286.00 -20.40 3,438.00 

4660-0000
 Fire Service - Utility 

1,890.16 1,893.00 2.84 2,841.00 

4799-0000  TOTAL UTILITIES 68,637.19 69,809.00 1,171.81 112,081.00 

5116-5000  REPAIR/MAINTENANCE 

5120-0000
 Electric Repairs 

1,035.57 1,680.00 644.43 2,520.00 

5122-0000
 NONCAM Electrical Repairs 

437.48 0.00 -437.48 0.00 

5125-0000
 Electric Supplies 

2,206.92 1,056.00 -1,150.92 1,584.00 

5140-0000
 Elevator Maintenance 

362.00 72,050.00 71,688.00 72,200.00 

5141-0000
 Elevator Maintenance-NonCAM 

533.00 0.00 -533.00 0.00 

5145-4400
 Security Maint & Repair 

0.00 80.00 80.00 120.00 

5160-0000
 Exterior Building Maintenance 

8,486.37 6,160.00 -2,326.37 7,740.00 

5161-0000
 Exterior Building Supplies 

104.50 150.00 45.50 225.00 

5162-0000
 Non CAM Exterior Bldg Maint. 

21.13 0.00 -21.13 0.00 

5170-0000
 Fire Extinguisher Maintenance 

1,707.00 1,820.00 113.00 1,820.00 

5175-0000
 Fire Alarm/Sprinkler Repair 

955.50 840.00 -115.50 1,260.00 

5180-0000
 HVAC Repair 

18,000.83 12,920.00 -5,080.83 19,380.00 

5185-0000
 HVAC Supplies 

4.31 0.00 -4.31 0.00 

5192-0000
 Landscaping Expense 

538.92 500.00 -38.92 500.00 

5195-0000
 Tree Trimming 

4,200.00 4,800.00 600.00 6,400.00 

5197-0000
 Holding Pond Maintenance 

0.00 500.00 500.00 1,000.00 

5198-0000
 TIC-Trail Maintenance Expense 

0.00 800.00 800.00 1,200.00 

5210-0000
 Locks & Keys Repairs 

592.00 590.00 -2.00 660.00 

5220-0000
 Parking Lot Repairs 

7,000.00 96,385.00 89,385.00 96,385.00 

5230-0000
 Plumbing Repairs 

1,312.80 2,580.00 1,267.20 3,720.00 

5235-0000
 Plumbing Supplies 

646.39 320.00 -326.39 480.00 

5240-0000
 Backflow Maintenance 

0.00 21.00 21.00 55.00 

5245-0000
 Irrigation Repairs 

1,046.75 1,530.00 483.25 1,920.00

 Page 2 of 5 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 66 of 113



Attachment B4 
Page 3 of 5

7/12/2021 10:34 AM 

INNOVATION PARK (innvtion) 

Budget Comparison 
Period = May 2021 

Book = Accrual 

YTD Actual  YTD Budget  Variance  Annual 
5250-0000

 Roof Repairs 

3,595.00 2,510.00 -1,085.00 3,840.00 

5260-0000
 Signage 

58.67 1,000.00 941.33 1,000.00 

5290-0000
 Other Maintenance 

2,612.27 3,980.00 1,367.73 5,120.00 

5292-0000
 Non CAM Other Maintenance 

621.40 0.00 -621.40 0.00 

5299-0000

 TOTAL REPAIR/MAINTENANCE 

56,078.81 212,272.00 156,193.19 229,129.00 

5300-0000
 CLEANING AND IMPROVEMENTS 5310-0000
 Carpet Cleaning 

115.00 850.00 735.00 2,900.00 

5313-0000
 Carpet Repairs 

19,369.46 0.00 -19,369.46 0.00 

5340-0000
 Painting 

25,555.05 39,090.00 13,534.95 39,090.00 

5342-0000
 Non CAM Painting 

3,307.20 0.00 -3,307.20 0.00 

5380-0000
 Other Cleaning and Improvements 

0.00 300.00 300.00 300.00 

5399-0000

 TOTAL CLEANING AND IMPROVEME

N 48,346.71 40,240.00 -8,106.71 42,290.00 

5400-0000
 SERVICES 5410-0000
 Elevator Service 

1,373.97 2,054.00 680.03 2,054.00 

5412-0000
 Elevator Service-NonCAM 

1,599.87 0.00 -1,599.87 0.00 

5415-0000
 Elevator Phone Service 

0.00 368.00 368.00 552.00 

5420-0000
 Fire Protection System 

3,341.00 3,832.00 491.00 3,832.00 

5425-0000
 Fire Protection Phone 

2,457.27 2,000.00 -457.27 3,000.00 

5430-0000
 Exterminating 

2,787.26 3,509.00 721.74 4,584.00 

5445-0000
 Backflow Prevention Service 

125.00 340.00 215.00 340.00 

5445-5000
 Backflow Prevention Svc-NonCAM 

0.00 40.00 40.00 40.00 

5447-0000
 HVAC Monthly Service 

6,898.74 10,347.00 3,448.26 13,796.00 

5450-0000
 Janitorial Service 

31,272.56 30,606.64 -665.92 44,204.00 

5460-0000
 Landscaping Service 

18,960.82 20,982.00 2,021.18 32,274.00 

5461-0000
 Landscaping - Trail 

1,295.00 1,486.00 191.00 2,250.00 

5462-0000
 Non CAM Landscaping 

2,629.70 2,934.00 304.30 4,510.00 

5480-0000
 Security 

1,035.21 910.00 -125.21 1,320.00 

5487-0000
 Window Washing Service 

279.95 1,430.00 1,150.05 9,644.00 

5499-0000

 TOTAL SERVICES 

74,056.35 80,838.64 6,782.29 122,400.00

 Page 3 of 5 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 67 of 113



Attachment B4 
Page 4 of 5

7/12/2021 10:34 AM 

INNOVATION PARK (innvtion) 

Budget Comparison 
Period = May 2021 

Book = Accrual 

YTD Actual  YTD Budget  Variance  Annual 
5500-0000

 PROPERTY ADMINISTRATION 5510-0000
 Accounting 

17,500.00 17,500.00 0.00 17,500.00 

5520-0000
 Phone Service 

1,373.18 1,304.00 -69.18 1,956.00 

5522-0000
 Internet Charge 

1,251.50 2,110.00 858.50 2,910.00 

5525-0000
 Bank Charges 

-16.00 0.00 16.00 0.00 

5530-0000
 Copies 

153.60 400.00 246.40 600.00 

5560-0000
 Fees/Licenses/Permits 

110.25 136.00 25.75 204.00 

5565-0000
 Office Supplies 

355.02 400.00 44.98 1,000.00 

5566-0000
 Office Equipment Maintenance 

0.00 400.00 400.00 600.00 

5570-0000
 Postage/Delivery 

0.00 40.00 40.00 60.00 

5575-0000
 Professional Fees 

12,909.50 14,000.00 1,090.50 21,000.00 

5580-0100
 Printing 

0.00 1,220.00 1,220.00 1,380.00 

5581-0000
 TechForce Expenses 

0.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 

5581-0100
 Grant Expenses 

0.00 35,000.00 35,000.00 35,000.00 

5582-0000
 Other Program Expenses 

144.81 9,475.00 9,330.19 13,725.00 

5585-0000
 Subscriptions 

2,345.00 2,420.00 75.00 2,920.00 

5586-0000
 Marketing/PR 

5,564.38 6,180.00 615.62 8,440.00 

5587-0000
 General Authority Expense 

387.46 960.00 572.54 1,440.00 

5589-0000
 Research Grants 

25,000.00 50,000.00 25,000.00 50,000.00 

5594-0000
 Travel 

0.00 3,600.00 3,600.00 4,500.00 

5596-0000
 Other Administration Costs 

1,542.03 2,020.00 477.97 2,500.00 

5599-0000  TOTAL PROPERTY ADMINISTRATION 68,620.73 148,165.00 79,544.27 166,735.00 

6110-0000
 Management Fees TALCOR 

58,834.96 58,832.00 -2.96 88,248.00 

6150-0000
 Other Expenses 

35.00 0.00 -35.00 0.00 

6159-0000

 TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES 

58,869.96 58,832.00 -37.96 88,248.00 

7110-0000
 Property Insurance 

42,615.44 42,616.08 0.64 63,924.00 

7111-0000
 Property Insurance-NonCAM 

107.92 107.92 0.00 161.88 

7199-0000

 TOTAL INSURANCE/TAXES 

42,723.36 42,724.00 0.64 64,085.88 

7800-0000

 TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 

710,063.00 956,505.64 246,442.64 1,283,033.88 

7999-0000
 NET INCOME - OPERATING 

-77,774.84 -233,630.24 155,855.40 -299,171.32

 Page 4 of 5 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 68 of 113



Attachment B4 
Page 5 of 5

7/12/2021 10:34 AM 

INNOVATION PARK (innvtion) 

Budget Comparison 
Period = May 2021 

Book = Accrual 

YTD Actual  YTD Budget  Variance  Annual 

8200-0000
 OTHER EXPENSES 8210-0000
 Depreciation Expense 

185,866.16 179,016.00 -6,850.16 268,526.00 

8220-0000
 Amortization Expense 

4,951.68 4,952.00 0.32 7,428.00 

8299-0000

 TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES 

190,817.84 183,968.00 -6,849.84 275,954.00 

9900-0000
 NET INCOME 

-268,592.68 -417,598.24 149,005.56 -575,125.32

 Page 5 of 5 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 69 of 113



 

                                                                               
                                                                                 
                   

                   

                                                        

                                                        
       

                        

                             
                    
                             
                   
                               
                             
                               
                       
                             
                       
                             
                       
                       
               
                    

                        
                        
                        
                             
                             

   
 

Attachment B5 
Page 1 of 1

7/12/2021 Leon County R&D Authority 
10:40 AM Draft Budget: Fiscal Year 2020‐21 

Capital Projects‐Deferred Maint 
2020‐21 2019‐20 

Paid from 
Building Item Amount Building Item py budget Budget Actual Variance 
Collins Collins 
New Building $  900,000 
Tenants In Common TIC 
Fuqua Fuqua 
Morgan ‐ Morgan $  ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Total Major Projects 900,000 Total Major Projects ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Knight ‐ Knight 
Fuqua Fuqua 
Phipps ‐

Morgan/ 
Morgan/  HVAC‐If needed Johnson/  HVAC‐If needed 
Johnson/ Collins 30,000 Phipps 30,000 ‐ 30,000 

Total Regular CapEx 30,000 Total Regular CapEx 30,000 ‐ 30,000 
Total Capital Expenditures $  930,000 Total Capital Expenditures $  30,000 $  ‐ $  30,000 

Current  Added to 
Deferred maint plan: OpEx Current OpEx Year 2 
Fuqua Remodel elevator including ceiling/ lighting/ 

upgrades 70,000 70,000 
Paint ‐ Stairs, all rails, and half way up on upper 
level 3,700 3,700 

Johnson Elevator remodel/upgrades 70,000 70,000 
Paint: Interior lobby, both floors 4,300 4,300 
Paint: interior of NPS/SEAC 20,000 20,000 
Paint: 4 exterior doors and roll up door 654 654 
Paint: 2 stairwells 5,000 5,000 

Morgan Paint 6 exterior doors 436 436 
Replace two exterior doors 1,700 1,700 
Paint 2 stairwells 5,000 5,000 

Knight Clean roof, deck, walkways, and building 1,170 1,170 
Repair back deck (gutter?) 3,000 3,000 

Inn‐tic Irrigation repairs 1,000 1,000 
Landscaping two entrance monument signs 3,500 3,500 
Signage: Refurb (high estimate $3,000 x 42) 126,000 126,000 
Signage: New/replacements 10,000 10,000 

Parking Lots 
Morgan Overlay 21,750 21,750 
Johnson Overlay 21,750 21,750 
Collins Overlay 45,885 45,885 
Knight Sealing/Striping 3,500 3,500 
Phipps Sealing/Striping 3,500 3,500 

Total deferred maintenance $  421,845 $  28,460 $  187,385 $ 206,000 

$  215,845 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 70 of 113



 
 

BYLAWS OF 

Attachment C1 
Page 1 of 19

LEON COUNTY RESEARCH AND 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

Adopted March 18, 1981 
Amended 

March 18, 1981 
May 14, 1981 

August 18, 1993 
October 15, 2002 
February 1, 2011 

May 10, 2011 
January 10, 2013 
December 4, 2014 

August 4, 2016 
August 3, 2017 
August 3, 2021 

1 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 71 of 113



 

 

 

   

    

   

    

    

    

   

     

     

    

   

   

   

    

    

   

   

   

   

     

   

     

    

    

    

   

     

   

   

    

Attachment C1 
Page 2 of 19

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. ARTICLE I - GOVERNANCE...................................................................................... 44 

1.1 Definitions. ........................................................................................................................................ 44 

1.2 Identity and Principal Office. .......................................................................................................... 55 

1.3 Background. ...................................................................................................................................... 55 

1.4 Purpose. ............................................................................................................................................. 66 

1.5 Membership. ..................................................................................................................................... 66 

1.6 Meetings............................................................................................................................................. 77 

1.7 Quorum and Voting.......................................................................................................................... 88 

1.8 Removal and Vacancies.................................................................................................................... 99 

1.9 Attendance......................................................................................................................................... 99 

1.10 Conflicts of Interests. .................................................................................................................... 1010 

2. ARTICLE II - OFFICERS ......................................................................................... 1010 

2.1 Officers. ......................................................................................................................................... 1010 

2.2 The Chair. ..................................................................................................................................... 1010 

2.3 Vice-Chair. .................................................................................................................................... 1111 

2.4 Treasurer....................................................................................................................................... 1111 

2.5 Election, Eligibility, Terms and Removal of Officers. ............................................................... 1111 

3. ARTICLE III - COMMITTEES ............................................................................... 1212 

3.1 Conduct of Committee Meeting................................................................................................... 1212 

3.2 Standing Committees. .................................................................................................................. 1212 

3.3 Audit Committee........................................................................................................................... 1212 

3.4 Budget Committee. ....................................................................................................................... 1313 

3.5 Bylaws Committee. ....................................................................................................................... 1313 

3.6 Executive Committee.................................................................................................................... 1313 

3.7 Investment Advisory Committee................................................................................................. 1414 

4. ARTICLE IV - DELEGATION OF DUTIES .......................................................... 1515 

4.1 Delegation of Duties...................................................................................................................... 1515 

5. ARTICLE V - OATH OF OFFICE AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE .............. 1515 

5.1 Oath of Office. ............................................................................................................................... 1515 

5.2 Statement of Financial Interest. .................................................................................................. 1515 

2 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 72 of 113



 

 

   

    

   

    

    

    

    

   

   

    

   

   

    

 
 

   

   

    

   

    

 
  

Attachment C1 
Page 3 of 19

6. ARTICLE VI - RESOLUTIONS ............................................................................... 1616 

6.1 Resolutions. ................................................................................................................................... 1616 

7. ARTICLE VII - FINANCES AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT ..................... 1616 

7.1 Finances. ........................................................................................................................................ 1616 

7.2 Audit. ............................................................................................................................................. 1616 

7.3 Execution of Contracts. ................................................................................................................ 1616 

7.4 Checks............................................................................................................................................ 1616 

8. ARTICLE VIII - EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR .......................................................... 1717 

8.1 Duties and Responsibilities. ......................................................................................................... 1717 

8.2 Custodian of Records. .................................................................................................................. 1717 

8.3 Responsibilities to the Board. ...................................................................................................... 1717 

9. ARTICLE IX - PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY .............................................. 1818 

9.1 Parliamentary Authority.............................................................................................................. 1818 

10. ARTICLE X- INDEMNIFICATION OF MEMBERS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES 
AND OTHERS ............................................................................................................ 1818 

10.1 Indemnification of Members, Officers, Employees and Others. .............................................. 1818 

11. ARTICLE XI - IMPLEMENTATION AND AMENDMENTS ............................. 1919 

11.1 Implementation and Amendments .............................................................................................. 1919 

12. ARTICLE XII - FISCAL YEAR ............................................................................... 1919 

12.1 Fiscal Year..................................................................................................................................... 1919 

3 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 73 of 113



 

 

  

 

 

 

  

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

 

 

  

1. ARTICLE I - GOVERNANCE 

1.1 Definitions. 

a.) “Authority” shall mean The Leon County Research and Development Authority. 

b.) “Board” shall mean the Board of the Authority.   

c.) “Commission” shall mean the Leon County Commission. 

d.) “Ex-Officio Member” means a person who is a member of the Board by virtue of the 

office or position they hold. An Ex-Officio Member shall have exactly the same 

rights as all other members including the right to vote on all matters, unless another 

applicable statute provides otherwise. 

e.) Whenever the phrase “Florida’s Government in the Sunshine Law” is used it shall 

refer to Section 286.011, Florida Statutes. 

f.) “Innovation Park” shall mean the Research and Development Park operated by the 

Authority on property owned by the Florida Board of Trustees of the Internal  

Improvement Trust Fund in Leon County, Florida and leased to the Leon County 

Research and Development Authority pursuant to Lease Agreement dated January 28, 

1980. 

g.) The use of the masculine gender shall also include the feminine. 

h.) “Affiliated Institution of Higher Education” shall mean Florida State University, 

Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University, and Tallahassee Community 

College. 

i.) “Present” shall mean physically or electronically in attendance and legally entitled 

to vote. 

j.) “Electronic Means” for participating in meetings may include the use of such 

devices as a speaker telephone or any other communications media that allows the 

Attachment C1 
Page 4 of 19

4 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 74 of 113



 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

Attachment C1 
Page 5 of 19

absent member to participate in discussions, and to be heard by other board 

members and the public during the meeting. 

1.2 Identity and Principal Office. 

a.) Identity. These are the Bylaws of the Leon County Research and Development 

Authority, a public body corporate. 

b.) Principal Office. The principal office of the Authority shall be at 1736 West Paul 

Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, FL 32310, or at such other place as may be subsequently 

designated by the Board. 

1.3 Background. 

The Leon County Research and Development Authority was created as a public body 

corporate pursuant to the enactment of 78-402, Laws of Florida, which created the 

Florida Research and Development Commission and provided for the creation of five-

member Research and Development Authorities.  The Charter of the Authority was filed 

with the Secretary of State on October 24, 1978.  On July 1, 1979, pursuant to the 

enactment of 79-101 Laws of Florida, Part V of Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, was 

created. This amendment expanded the powers of authorities to provide for financing of 

projects. Section 159.75, Florida Statutes, required any authority established prior to 

this enactment, to reconstitute itself under the amended statute in order to be able to 

exercise any power to issue bonds or other debt obligations pursuant to Sections 

159.74(6) and (7), Florida Statutes. On December 16, 1980 Ordinance 80-68 was 

adopted by the Commission.  Ordinance 80-68 confirmed the creation and existence of 

the Authority pursuant to Section 159.704(3), Florida Statutes. 

5 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 75 of 113



 

 

 

 

  

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

  

  

Attachment C1 
Page 6 of 19

1.4 Purpose. 

The Authority was created to promote scientific research and development, in affiliation 

with, and related to the research and development activities of state-based, accredited 

institutions of higher education and to foster economic development and the broadening 

of the economic base of Leon County in conjunction with institutions of higher 

education. 

1.5 Membership. 

a.) Members Appointed by the Commission.  The Board shall consist of at least five 

(5) members who are residents and electors of, or have their principal place of 

employment in, Leon County, appointed by the Commission pursuant to 

Section 159.703(3), Florida Statutes.  Pursuant to Leon County Board of County 

Commissioners Resolution 16-19, the number of members appointed by the 

Commission is seven (7), six (6) of which shall be at-large members. The terms of 

the members appointed by the Commission shall be for four (4) years. One Board 

member shall be a member of the Commission who shall serve a term of four (4) 

years or until such time such appointee ceases to be a member of the Commission. 

b.) Ex-Officio Members. The Board shall also include the Mayor of the City of 

Tallahassee or the Mayor’s designee, the President of Florida State University, or the 

President’s designee, the President of Florida Agricultural and Mechanical 

University, or the President’s designee, and the President of Tallahassee Community 

College, or the President’s designee. Each of the members indicated in this paragraph 

shall serve in an Ex-Officio capacity as defined in Section 1.1(d) herein. 

c.) Term of Membership. An Ex-Officio member shall serve for so long as the member 

serves in his respective position.  If the member serves as a designee of a member in 

6 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 76 of 113



 

 

   

       

 

 

     

 

 

  

 

  

 

   

 

   

    

Attachment C1 
Page 7 of 19

Section 1.5(b), the member shall serve as long as he remains a designee, subject to 

the provisions of Section 1.8(a) herein. 

d.) Change in Designee. If the Commission or an Ex-Officio member changes his 

designee to the Board, notification of such change must be provided in writing to the 

Chairman and to the Executive Director within at least ten days of the change. The 

President of each Affiliated Institution of Higher Education may designate one 

alternate designee. Any such designation shall be provided in writing to the Chairman 

and to the Executive Director at least 24 hours prior to an alternate participating in a 

meeting. 

1.6  Meetings 

a.) Annual Meeting. The first meeting of the Board in October shall be the Annual 

Meeting. At the Annual Meeting the Board shall, if not previously adopted, adopt the 

budget for the current fiscal year and the Chair shall make initial appointments of 

members to committees. 

b.) Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held not less than 

quarterly. The Board may dispense with any regular meeting which the Chair in 

consultation with the Executive Director deems to be unnecessary.   

c.) Special Meetings. Special meetings require seventy-two (72) hours advance notice 

to the public. Special meetings of the Board may be convened in the following 

manner. Special meetings of the Board may be called at any time by the Chair. A 

special meeting shall also be called if the Executive Director receives a written request 

to convene a special meeting to discuss the same subject from three (3) members of 

the Board. In such event the Chair shall convene a special meeting consistent with 

the notice provisions of this paragraph. 

7 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 77 of 113



 

 

 

  

 

  

  

    

 

  

 

   

 

  

 

  

  

  

  

Attachment C1 
Page 8 of 19

d.) Notice. All meetings of the Authority shall be publicly noticed in compliance with 

Florida’s Government in the Sunshine Law to ensure full participation of the public.  

Notice of meetings shall be published in the Florida Administrative Weekly. 

1.7 Quorum and Voting. 

a.) Quorum. A majority of the members of the Board shall constitute a quorum. 

b.) Voting. Each member of the Board shall have equal voting rights and privileges. The 

affirmative vote of a majority of the members Present shall be necessary for any action 

taken by the Board. Pursuant to Section 159.703(6), Florida Statutes, the President 

of each Affiliated Institution of Higher Education or that President’s designee shall 

be Present and vote on any action taken by the Board involving the issuance of bonds 

or the transfer, development, lease or encumbrance of any lands owned by the  

Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund and leased to the Authority. In 

addition, the President of each Affiliated Institution of Higher Education or such 

President’s designee shall be Present and vote in the affirmative on any action taken 

by the Board involving the lease of any Innovation Park lands to a State agency. 

c.) Voting by Proxy. Voting by proxy or through any other means shall not be permitted 

except to the extent provided in Section 1.7(d) herein.  

d.) Meetings Conducted Via Electronic Means. Participation via Electronic Means by 

an absent member in discussion and voting in a meeting of the Board, or a Committee 

of the Board, shall be permitted only when such absence is due to extraordinary 

circumstances such as serious illness. Whether the absence of a member due to any 

other reason constitutes such an extraordinary circumstance shall be determined by 

majority vote of the Board in the case of meetings of the Board or Committees, or by 

majority vote of the Executive Committee in the case of meetings of any Committee 

8 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 78 of 113



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

   

  

 

   

 

 

Attachment C1 
Page 9 of 19

where the Executive Committee can make such determination before the meeting of 

the Committee. Members requesting approval to participate via Electronic Means 

shall not participate in the vote to approve such participation. If more members are 

approved to participate via electronic means than can be accommodated by available 

Electronic Means, then members will be accommodated in the order the requests were 

received. For the purposes of determining quorum electronic participation is not 

included. 

1.8 Removal and Vacancies. 

a.) Removal. Any member serving on the Board may be removed  from office by the 

Commission for misfeasance, malfeasance or willful neglect of duty.  

b.) Assignment of Membership. An individual, once designated as a member of the 

Board, shall not designate anyone else to fulfill his duties as a member of the Board 

on a fulltime, temporary, or interim basis. 

c.) Vacancies. Except as to members who serve Ex-Officio, the Commission shall fill 

any vacancy for an unexpired term. 

1.9 Attendance. 

All members of the Board are expected to attend meetings of the Board as well as 

meetings of committees to which they have been appointed.  At each Annual Meeting of 

the Board, the Executive Director shall present the attendance record of each member of 

the Board for the prior fiscal year.  If a member of the Board fails to regularly attend 

Board and/or Committee meetings during the year, a recommendation may be made to 

remove him from the Board unless extenuating circumstances are demonstrated.  If such 

recommendation is approved by the Board then a request in writing shall be forwarded 

to the Commission for consideration. 

9 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 79 of 113



 

 

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

     

 

 

  

Attachment C1 
Page 10 of 19

1.10 Conflicts of Interests. 

Each member of the Board is a public officer who must abstain from voting when a 

conflict of interest exists pursuant to Chapter 112, Florida Statutes.  It is the duty of each 

member to make known through verbal and written communication to the Board and the 

General Counsel when a conflict of interest exists and to refrain from voting and/or 

participating in actions to be taken on the item for which they have a conflict of interest.  

For the purpose of this subsection, the term participate means any attempt to influence 

the decision by oral or written communication.  This provision shall not be construed to 

contravene Section 159.703(6), Florida Statutes. 

2. ARTICLE II - OFFICERS 

2.1 Officers. 

The officers of the Authority shall consist of the Chair, Vice-Chair and Treasurer.  The 

Board may elect additional officers as required or desired. 

2.2 The Chair. 

a.) The Chair shall preside at all Board meetings. 

b.) The Chair, Vice Chair or, if the Vice Chair is unavailable, the Chair’s designee, shall 

represent the Authority in all official business.   

c.) The Chair shall maintain oversight of all Board committee activity, including the 

timely planning, implementation and completion of all Board-directed action. The 

Chair shall initially appoint members and chairpersons of all committees at the 

Annual Meeting, and may make or change appointments at any other time as the Chair 

deems necessary. 

d.) The Chair shall sign all instruments which require his signature. 

10 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 80 of 113



 

 

 

  

   

  

    

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

Attachment C1 
Page 11 of 19

e.) The Chair, with the consent of the Board, may appoint other committees or task forces 

as may be deemed helpful to the Board. Such committees or task forces shall consist 

of members of the Board and may consist of members of the community with 

expertise in particular areas and shall perform such functions and possess such powers 

as approved by the Board. 

2.3 Vice-Chair. 

The Vice-Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair when the Chair is absent or the 

position is vacated and have such other responsibilities as may be designated by the 

Chair. 

2.4 Treasurer. 

a.) The Treasurer shall serve as the Chair of the Budget Committee. 

b.) The Treasurer shall review the financial records of the Authority, including all funds 

received and disbursed. 

c.) The Treasurer shall have the responsibility to ensure the Authority’s financial 

accountability and compliance and shall perform such other duties as may be 

properly required of the Treasurer. 

d.) The Treasurer shall sign all instruments which require his signature. 

2.5 Election, Eligibility, Terms and Removal of Officers. 

a.) Election of Officers.  The election of the Officers of the Authority shall occur at the 

last meeting of the Board each fiscal year, with the term in office to begin October 1 

of the next fiscal year. All Officers shall hold office strictly at the pleasure of the 

Board. 

b.) Eligibility. All members of the Board or their designees shall be eligible to be an 

officer of the Authority. 

11 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 81 of 113



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Attachment C1 
Page 12 of 19

c.) Terms of Office.  The Chair and Vice-Chair shall serve no more than two 

consecutive terms in office unless additional consecutive terms are approved by the 

affirmative vote of a majority of the Board Present at a meeting at which a quorum 

is present at any duly called regular or special meeting of the Board. 

d.) Removal of Officers. Any officer may be removed with or without cause at any 

time by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board Present at a meeting at which 

a quorum is present at any duly called regular or special meeting of the Board. 

3. ARTICLE III - COMMITTEES 

3.1 Conduct of Committee Meeting. 

Each committee shall have at least three (3) members and shall meet at the call of its 

Chair. Meetings of any committee, including an advisory committee or task force, may 

be held at such time and place as such committee Chair may from time to time schedule, 

so long as they comply with the requirements of Florida’s Government in the Sunshine 

Law. Each committee shall keep minutes and audio recordings of its meetings and 

report its activities to the Board at the Regular or Special Meeting as required. 

3.2 Standing Committees. 

There shall be five (5) standing Committees established by the Authority: Audit 

Committee, Budget Committee, Bylaws Committee, Executive Committee and 

Investment Advisory Committee. The Committees shall perform the duties listed below, 

and all other duties assigned by the Chair. 

3.3 Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee shall consist of three (3) members of the Board.  The Treasurer 

shall not serve on the committee but is encouraged to attend all meetings of the 

committee; the Treasurer’s attendance shall not be required to conduct a meeting of the 

12 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 82 of 113



 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

  

     

 

    

Attachment C1 
Page 13 of 19

committee. The committee shall engage an auditor to conduct the annual audit pursuant 

to Section 218.39, Florida Statutes, review the Audit Plan, and assist the Board in 

fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities relating to accounting and reporting practices.  The 

committee will receive the audit report and report both the findings and response of the 

Executive Director to the findings to the Board for approval and make recommendations 

to the Authority’s system of internal controls as warranted.  The committee shall also be 

responsible for ensuring that the annual Financial Audit Report and any response to the 

Report are filed with the Auditor General’s Office and with the Clerk of Court. 

3.4 Budget Committee.  

The Budget Committee shall assist the Board in assuring the budgetary and financial 

practices of the Authority are sound and prudent.  The Budget Committee shall develop 

the annual operating budget and present its recommendations to the Board at the first 

meeting of the Board in October, if not before.  The Treasurer shall be the Chair of the 

Budget Committee. 

3.5 Bylaws Committee. 

The Bylaws Committee shall review and recommend changes as needed to the Bylaws 

of the Authority, bylaws of any committees, Charter of the Authority, and any other 

governing documents on an annual basis.  The Bylaws Committee shall meet more 

frequently if needed. The duties of the Bylaws Committee may be fulfilled by the 

Executive Committee at the discretion of the Chair. 

3.6 Executive Committee. 

a.) Composition, Meetings and Powers. The Executive Committee shall at a minimum 

include the Chair, Vice Chair, Treasurer, and the immediate past Chair if still a 

member of the Board. The Executive Committee shall meet at the call of the Chair. 

13 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 83 of 113



 

 

  

    

 

     

  

    

    

  

    

       

 

Attachment C1 
Page 14 of 19

The Executive Committee shall have the general powers and duties of management 

of the Authority. The Executive Committee shall establish, review and recommend 

changes to the policies of the Authority as needed. The Executive Committee, or in 

emergency situations the Chair, shall exercise the powers and authority of the Board 

in between meetings of the Board. 

b.) Ratification and Notification. If the Executive Committee or Chair exercises the 

power of the Board, the committee or Chair shall seek ratification of its actions at the 

next meeting of the Board. The Executive Director or General Counsel shall notify 

the Board within 72 hours of any extraordinary actions taken by the Executive  

Committee or Chair. Extraordinary actions shall include, but are not limited to, 

termination of the Executive Director, termination or cancellation of contracts, and 

authorization of expenditures which require Board approval according to the 

Authority’s purchasing policy.  

c.) Delegation of Powers and Duties. The Executive Committee, with approval of the 

Board, may delegate the general powers and duties of management of the Authority 

and/or Innovation Park to a fulltime employee, including the Executive Director as 

defined in Article VIII, or to any person, firm, or corporation which assumes  

responsibility by contract. 

3.7 Investment Advisory Committee.   

The Investment Advisory Committee shall assist the Board with review and oversight of 

the Authority’s investment policy, objectives, guidelines and investment performance; 

provide recommendations to the Board on major investment objectives, strategies and 

policies; and oversee the Authority’s investment consultants and/or fund managers.  

14 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 84 of 113



 

 

  

 

 

 

  

Attachment C1 
Page 15 of 19

Authority, composition, and responsibilities of the committee shall be detailed in the 

committee charter approved by the Board. 

4. ARTICLE IV - DELEGATION OF DUTIES 

4.1 Delegation of Duties. 

 No officer of the Authority or Chair of any committee shall delegate any of his duties to 

any other person or persons, except with the approval of the Board.  The Executive 

Committee may, in case of the absence or inability of any officer to act, delegate the 

duty of such officer to any Board member whom the Executive Committee may select, 

and the Executive Committee shall report such selection to the Board within 72 hours.  

5. ARTICLE V - OATH OF OFFICE AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

5.1 Oath of Office. 

Each member of the Board, before entering upon the member’s duties shall take and 

subscribe the oath or affirmation as required by the Constitution of the State of Florida.  

The record of such oath or affirmation shall be filed with the Department of State and 

with the Clerk of the Circuit Court.  Each member shall provide a record of such oath or 

affirmation to the Executive Director before assuming the functions of a member.   

5.2 Statement of Financial Interest.  

Each member of the Board shall also file a statement of financial interest within thirty 

(30) days of the date of the appointment in accordance with Section 112.3145, Florida 

Statutes. Each member shall provide written confirmation to the Executive Director of 

the submission of the statement of financial interest within thirty (30) days of the date of 

his appointment. 

15 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 85 of 113



 

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment C1 
Page 16 of 19

6. ARTICLE VI - RESOLUTIONS 

6.1 Resolutions. 

Any action taken by the Board may be authorized by resolution at any regular or special 

meeting. 

7. ARTICLE VII - FINANCES AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

7.1 Finances. 

The funds of the Authority shall be deposited in its name with such banks, trust 

companies, other financial institutions, or as otherwise authorized by law, as the Board 

may from time to time designate. 

7.2 Audit. 

An audit of the books and records of the Authority shall be conducted annually by a 

certified public accountant. When received, the audit report, together with all related 

documents, shall be reviewed by the Audit Committee and promptly presented to the 

Board for its consideration. 

7.3 Execution of Contracts. 

Unless otherwise delegated by policy approved by the Board, only the Chair or the Vice-

Chair if the Chair so designates in specific cases, is authorized to enter into any contract 

or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Authority, and 

only then with the ratification of the Board.  All documents executed by the Chair shall 

be provided promptly to the Executive Director, who serves as the Custodian of Records 

for the Authority, and to the Board members for their review. 

7.4 Checks. 

a.) Checks drawn in amount greater than $10,000 shall be co-signed by the Chair and 

Treasurer. 

16 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 86 of 113



 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment C1 
Page 17 of 19

b.) Checks drawn in amount not more than $10,000 shall be signed by the Chair,  

Treasurer, or Executive Director. 

c.) The Vice Chair shall co-sign or sign checks in the absence of the Chair or Treasurer 

in accordance with the other requirements of this section. 

8. ARTICLE VIII - EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

8.1 Duties and Responsibilities. 

Under the supervision of the Board, the Executive Director shall exercise the general 

powers and duties of management of the Authority and such other duties and 

responsibilities as assigned by the Board or the Executive Committee pursuant to the 

Executive Director’s employment agreement, or policies of the Authority approved by 

the Board. 

8.2 Custodian of Records. 

The Executive Director shall serve as the Custodian of Records for the Authority and be 

responsible for maintaining all of the records of the Authority at its principal office.  The 

Executive Director shall also be responsible for ensuring and maintaining documentation 

establishing that each member of the Board has taken the oath or affirmation and has 

filed a statement of financial interest as set forth in Article V herein. 

8.3 Responsibilities to the Board. 

The Executive Director shall report to the Board the actions of any Board member or 

Committee member which in the Executive Director's judgment is in conflict with any 

applicable state statute, city or county ordinance or Charter, bylaws or policies of the 

Authority. Such actions must first be reported to the Executive Committee, unless the 

issue involves the actions of the Executive Committee, or any of its members, in which 

case the issue shall be reported to the full Board. In the latter circumstance, the 

17 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 87 of 113



 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

Attachment C1 
Page 18 of 19

Executive Director shall request that three Board members ask for a Special meeting of 

the full Board consistent with the requirements of Section 1.6(c) herein. 

9. ARTICLE IX - PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY 

9.1 Parliamentary Authority. 

Roberts Rules of Order, newly revised (“Robert’s Rules”), shall govern all proceedings 

of the Board where applicable. When Roberts Rules are in conflict with these Bylaws, 

the Authority’s Bylaws will control. 

10. ARTICLE X- INDEMNIFICATION OF MEMBERS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND 
OTHERS 

10.1 Indemnification of Members, Officers, Employees and Others.  

The Authority shall indemnify, to the full extent provided by law, any person who is 

named a party to any proceeding due to his service as a member, officer and employee 

of the Authority, or who serves at the Authority's written request, against liability and 

expenses incurred in connection with such proceeding, so long as the person acted in 

good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in the best interest of the 

Authority. The Authority shall develop an ongoing plan for risk management and 

indemnification of members, officers and employees of the Authority and those serving 

at the Authority’s written request, taking into consideration Federal and State Laws. 

This paragraph shall not be construed to apply to any acts of a member, officer or 

employee of the Authority, or those serving at the Authority’s written request, 

undertaken prior to the effective date of the adoption of this provision, it being the intent 

that such acts would be covered by the Bylaws in effect prior to the effective date of 

adoption of this provision. 

18 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 88 of 113



 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment C1 
Page 19 of 19

11. ARTICLE XI - IMPLEMENTATION AND AMENDMENTS 

11.1 Implementation and Amendments 

a.) These Bylaws may be repealed, amended or altered or new Bylaws may be adopted 

by a majority vote at any meeting of the Board; however, any proposed amendments 

shall be distributed to the members at least five (5) working days before the Board 

meeting at which they are to be considered. 

b.) The Board shall be bound by and conformed to all of these Bylaws, as they exist at 

the time of their joining the Board, or as they may thereafter be changed or 

amended. 

c.) These Bylaws shall become effective immediately upon adoption by majority vote 

of the Board. The Board’s interpretation of the Bylaws shall be considered the 

correct interpretation when reached by majority vote. 

12. ARTICLE XII - FISCAL YEAR 

12.1 Fiscal Year. 

 The fiscal year of the organization shall begin on October 1 and end on September 30. 

19 Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 89 of 113



 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

 

  

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

a. Internal Controls Procedures 

Attachment C2 
Page 1 of 8

 Accounts receivable reports are reviewed periodically throughout each 

month for any delinquent receivables.  Any delinquent receivables will 

be followed up on immediately with the tenant by the property manager. 

 Agent has a year-end closing procedure in place and reconciles all 

balance sheet accounts prior to year end closing. 

 Personnel independent of the check writing process receives all bank 

statements unopened and inspect contents for any unexpected or 

unusual transactions. This person reviews all payments and inspects 

signatures. 

 Bank reconciliations are performed and reviewed within 20 days of 

each month end. 

 A review of the bank reconciliations for any unusual reconciling items, 

old checks or deposits, and for agreement to the general ledger is  

performed by personnel independent of the check writing process. 

 The aged receivables and payables are reviewed on a monthly basis for 

accounts requiring additional follow-up action due to age and/or balance. 

This is done by someone outside of accounting. 

 Adjustments to AR or AP are approved by the Executive Director or 

Board Treasurer prior to removal.  Any adjustments to such accounts are 

printed monthly to be included in the monthly reports for review by the 

Executive Director for any unauthorized transactions 

 All purchases shall be made in accordance with Purchasing Policy 11-03. 

 Checks are cut by one person and signed by Board members and 

management who do not have access to change accounting records. As 

provided by the Bylaws of the Authority, tThe Chair and Treasurer must 

co-sign checks greater than $10,000; the Chair, Treasurer, or Executive 

Director shall sign checks $10,000 or less; the Vice Chair shall sign for 

the Chair or Treasurer in their absence. An independent person (not one 

of the people who cuts or signs checks) reviews the bank statement each 

month for any unusual items. 

 Electronic ACH payments and wire transfers may be made in lieu of 

payment by check provided transactions are initiated and approved by 

Page  1 of 8 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 
Page 90 of 113



 
 

 
 

 

     

 

   

 

   

  

 

  

  

  

    

  

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

  
 

Attachment C2 
Page 2 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

two different Authorized Persons.  Authorized Persons include the Chair, 

Vice Chair, Treasurer, Executive Director, and Accounting Director.  

Transactions for amounts over $10,000 require email approval by the 

Chair and Treasurer to the Authorized Persons with such approval 

evidence retained with the invoice; the Vice Chair shall provide email 

approval for the Chair or Treasurer in their absence. 

 A budget comparison report is included in each monthly report. Any 

significant variation from budget is explained in a variation report 

provided by the property manager. 

 All reports are reviewed and reconciled to the general ledger before 

being distributed. 

 Banking stock is kept in a locked drawer when not in use and not accessible by 
check signers. 

 No signature stamps are used. 

 Monthly transactions are entered as soon as reasonably possible in the 

general ledger. Written policies and procedures are currently in place 

regarding the reconciliation process and will be updated for any 

changes made as soon as possible after such change is made. 

 All mail is opened by someone outside of accounting and stamped as to 

date received. These are then received by accounting with another date 

stamp and passed onto property management for coding and approval. 

 Payments for rent are received into the accounting software as soon as 

deposited (daily).  The software keeps track of balances due/owed which 

are reflected on the aged receivable detail that is monitored carefully each 

month.  No cash payments are accepted. 

 Voided checks are maintained in a monthly folder. All checks are 

numerical in order and tracked by number. 

 The personnel who will create new vendors in the system must receive a 

W9 and insurance certificates before creating a new vendor.  This person is 

a different person than the person who cuts checks each month. 

 All journal entries are printed and reviewed monthly by the Treasurer 

and another independent party with Agent. 

 Billing for maintenance and other reimbursable costs is performed monthly. 

  Page  2 of 8 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 
Page 91 of 113



 
 

 
 

 

     

 

 

   
 

 
 

     
 

 
 

   
 

 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 

 

 

    

 
 

 
 

   
 

 

   

  
 

 
 

   

 

 

 

Attachment C2 
Page 3 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

 There is currently an accounting policies and procedures manual in place 

at agent’s office. This will be maintained and updated as needed to 

comply with the Authority’s policies and procedures. 

 A formal disaster recovery plan is currently in place. This will be updated as 

needed to comply with the Authority’s policy. 

 An IT policy is currently in place. This will be updated as needed to comply 

with the Authority’s policy. 

 Background and reference checks are done on all employees prior to hiring. 

All detail is kept in each employee file. 

 A records retention system is currently in place. This will be updated as 

needed to comply with the Authority’s policy. 

 An inventory will be done on all fixed assets at Innovation Park prior to 

October 1 each year. 

 Agent will assist in evaluating the current insurance coverage in place 

and any need to modify. 

 Employee files will be kept for each Authority employee that records 

any and all leave time used, approval of such time, and leave balances. 

b. Mail Processing and Payable Processing 

 Mail is opened by designated personnel and stamped with date received. 

 Invoices delivered to accounting and stamped with accounting date 

received and then placed in appropriate property manager folder for 

approval. 

 Once approved, given to accounting department for entry into system. 

 Accounting scans in payable aging detail and invoices in order. 

 Payable Aging Detail and invoices are emailed to the Executive Director of 

the Authority or Board Treasurer for approval of payment with a blind 

carbon copy to each of the Executive Committee members. Upon 

approval, Accounting Director cuts the checks, and the runner delivers 

them for signatures. Two Board officer signatures are required for check 

amounts greater than $10,000, while check amounts less than or equal to 

$10,000 may be signed by the Executive Director; The Executive Director 

and officers of the Board (Chair, Vice-Chair and Treasurer) have signature 

  Page  3 of 8 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 
Page 92 of 113



 
 

 
 

 

     

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

   
 

     

   

 

 

   
 

   

  
 

 

      

  

 
 

  

 

   

 

Attachment C2 
Page 4 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

authority. 

 Once the checks are received back from the Authority for payment; the 

runner checks the list for any missing invoices and/or checks and makes 

sure the appropriate signatures are there. 

 The runner copies all the checks and then mails out.  Invoices are then 

filed in the appropriate folders with check copies. 

 Electronic ACH Payments and wire transfers may be made in lieu of 

payment by check provided transactions are initiated and approved by 

two different Authorized Persons.  Authorized Persons include the Chair, 

Vice Chair, Treasurer, Executive Director, and Accounting Director.  

Transactions for amounts over $10,000 require email approval by the 

Chair and Treasurer to the Authorized Persons with such approval 

evidence retained with the invoice; the Vice Chair shall provide email 

approval for the Chair or Treasurer in their absence. 

c. Check Deposits and Invoice Transmittals 

 Mail is opened by designated personnel and stamped with date received. 

 Checks are copied and endorsed for deposit. 

 A deposit transmittal is created and saved on the agent’s computer a 

folder dedicated to the Authority.  This folder is password protected and 

cannot be accessed outside of certain accounting personnel and certain 

property managers. 

 Checks are written up on a deposit slip and taken to the bank by the runner. 

 Deposits slips are given to designated personnel for recording in the 

Excel checkbook. 

 Deposit slip is given back to accounting for entry into the accounting system. 

 Once entered into accounting system, the deposit slip is attached to 

invoice transmittal and check copies and given to Accounting Director 

for filing. 

d. Tenant Invoices 

 Updated Rent Roll created and charges made by the 25th of each month. 

 List of tenant contacts printed out and invoice numbers assigned to 

each tenant. 

  Page  4 of 8 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 
Page 93 of 113



 
 

 
 

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  
 

 
 

   
 

   

      

 
 

 

    
 

   

  

 

  

  

   

 

  

 

Attachment C2 
Page 5 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

 Create invoices using assigned numbers and give to another member 

of accounting to review. 

 Once reviewed, invoices are mailed or emailed to each tenant as specified 

on the contact list. 

 If a tenant is more than 30 days delinquent, a reminder invoice will be 

sent and the property manager will contact the tenant by email and/or 

telephone. 

 If a tenant is more than 45 days delinquent, the property manager will 

again follow-up by email and telephone. 

 At 60 days delinquent, tenants will be given 3 days notice of eviction 

for non-payment. 

 If the above efforts to collect fail, a collection agency may be utilized. 

e. Financial Statement Preparation Procedures 

 SPIA, FLPRIME and FLGIT information is received from the Authority. 

 Bank statements are received from the bank for the month just ended.  

Original bank statements are sent directly from the bank to the Chairman 

of the Audit Committee. 

 Journal entries are made in the accounting system for any needed 

adjustments such as bank fees/interest income/depreciation/amortization, 

etc. All journal entries are verified in-house by someone independent of the 

accounting process and also by the Treasurer of the Board. 

 All bank accounts are reconciled to the general ledger. 

 All balances are verified. All receivables are double checked; all 

payables verified. The trial balance is gone through thoroughly to make 

sure all balances agree. 

 Budget comparisons are printed and given to the Property Manager to 

review and clarify any differences from budget to actual. 

 All reports are printed as preliminary (pending any adjustments above) 

and submitted to the Board Treasurer for review. 

 Once the budget comparison explanations are received from the Property 

Manager, all reports are printed to Adobe PDF and assembled into report 

format. The report is then sent to the Executive Director and the Treasurer 

  Page  5 of 8 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 
Page 94 of 113



 
 

 
 

 

     

 

 
    

 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 

  

   

  

  

 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Attachment C2 
Page 6 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

of the Board for presentation at the monthly Board of Governors Meeting. 

f. Audited Financial Statement Follow-Up 

1. File Audit with Leon County Board of County Commissioners 

 Submit to Leon County Board of County Commissioners & 

Authority’s Board of Governors. 

 Cover letter from Executive Director. 

2. Auditor General Report 

 File within 45 days of Audit Acceptance 

 General info at: www.myflorida.com/audgen 

 1 electronic copy as unsecured PDF emailed 

to flaudgen_localgovt@aud.state.fl.us 

 File name [year] [name] .pdf; all lower case for name. 

For example: “2010 leon county research and 

development authority.pdf” 

 1 hard copy plus 1 check list 

to: Auditor General 

Local Government Audits/342 

Claude Pepper Building, Room 401 

111 W. Madison St. 

Tallahassee, FL 32399-

1450 

3. Annual Financial Report to Department of Financial Services 

 Complete Online at 

https://apps.fldfs.com/LOCALGOV/Default.as 

px 

o Confirm/Update General Information 

o Add Revenues (all ENTERPRISE): 

 Code 361100: Interest 

 2010: $13,605 (Nonoperating Revenues 

“Interest Income”) 

 Code 362000: Rents and Royalties 

 2010: $1,529,967 (Total Operating 

  Page  6 of 8 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 
Page 95 of 113

https://apps.fldfs.com/LOCALGOV/Default.as
mailto:flaudgen_localgovt@aud.state.fl.us
www.myflorida.com/audgen


 
 

 
 

 

     

 

 

 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

   

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

Attachment C2 
Page 7 of 8

Revenue 
s) 

o Add Expenditures (all ENTERPRISE) 

 Code 552 (Industry Development) 

 Account 10 (Personal Services) 

o 2010: $145,128 (Operating 

Expenses “Salaries & 

Employee Benefits”) 

 Account 30 (Operating Expenses) 

o 2010: $1,403,935 (“Total 

Operating Expenses” minus 

“Salaries & Employee Benefits” 

 Account 70 (Debt Service) 

o 2010: $153,800 (Non-

Operating Revenue/Expenses 

– Sum of “Amortization of 

Bond Issuance Costs” and 

“Interest on Bonds”) 

o Add Debt Information 

 Amount of Long Term Debt 

 2010: $3,235,858 (Sum of “Current 

Portion of Bond Payable” plus “Bond 

payable net of 

current portion”) 

o Audit 

 Add Audit Information (firm, date, etc) 

 Completion date is the date of letter from 

Audit 
or 

o Certification 

 Generally No Financial Emergency 

 Therefore next question is NO 

 Yes in terms of compliance and matching the 

  Page  7 of 8 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 
Page 96 of 113



 
 

 
 

 

     

    
 

 

 

   

  

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

  
 

   

 

Attachment C2 
Page 8 of 8

Leon County Research & Development Authority 
Internal Controls & Operating Procedures 

Revised: 12/1/201608/03/2021 

Audit to AFR submission. 

 Certify  CFO  &  Chairman  

 Also need to submit the Audited Financial Statements to 

certify the AFR submission. The Statements can be 

submitted by providing a link to them on the website, 

electronically as a PDF attachment to 

localgov@myfloridacfo.com or through the mail to: 

Bureau of Local Government 

200 East Gaines 
Street 

Tallahassee, FL. 32399-0354 

4. Public Depositor Annual Report to the Chief Financial 
Officer 

 Form DFS-J1-1009 

 Filed each November; certification of QPDs (Qualified 

Public Depositories) – short form to be filed with 

Department of Financial Services 

  Page  8 of 8 
Leon County R&D Authority 

Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 
Page 97 of 113

mailto:localgov@myfloridacfo.com


 

 

 

 

   
   

 
   

 
   
     
   

 
   

     
 

 

 
 

   
   

       

   
   

Attachment C3 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 

20‐01 Investment Procedures and Internal Controls Manual 

August 4, 2020 

Revised: August 3, 2021 

Scope 

This document applies to procedures and controls related to investment accounts and related 
transactions. 

Objectives 

To ensure that all investment accounts and transactions are properly authorized and recorded in the 
accounting records of the Authority, and in accordance with the Investment Policy, as well as to prevent 
losses of funds which might arise from fraud, employee error, and misrepresentation by third parties, or 
imprudent actions by employees of the Authority. 

Designated Controller 

The procedures and controls below include references to “Controller”.  This position is designated by the 
Board of Governors and may be an employee of the Authority or an employee of a contractor.  If an 
employee, the Controller is under the supervision of the Executive Director.  If an employee of a 
contractor, the Controller is under the supervision of the contractor, while subject to oversight by the  
Executive Director in accordance with any related service contract. In either case, the Controller shall 
report to the Executive Committee or the Board of Governors any issues or differences with the 
Executive Director related to compliance with this procedure and controls. The Executive Director may 
not serve as the Controller. 

General Controls:  

1. All new investment accounts must be authorized by the Board. 
2. The Controller will verify Board authorization for the creation of any new accounts. 
3. The function of authorizing or performing investment transactions will be separated from the 

function of recording the transaction. 
4. Confirmation. All telephone or other electronically initiated transactions will be supported by 

written communications and approved by a person other than the person initiating the 

transaction. 
5. The Controller will require written documentation of any transaction reflected in the 

organization’s banking account, and properly record the transaction in the organization’s 
accounting records. 

6. All securities purchased or sold will be transferred only under the "deliver versus payment" 
(DVP) method to ensure that funds or securities are not released until all criteria relating to the 

specific transaction are met. 
7. The Executive Director will accept, on behalf of and in the name of the Authority, bank trust 

receipts or confirmations as evidence of actual delivery of the obligations or securities in return 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 98 of 113



 

 

  
     

    
  

 

        

  
    

  

   
    

     
   

  

  
   

   
   

   
  

 

 
 

   
    

  

Attachment C3 
Page 2 of 3

for investment of funds. 
8. Trust receipts or confirmations shall fully describe the various obligations or securities held. The 

receipt or confirmation shall state that the investment is held in the name of the Authority. 
9. The actual obligations or securities, whether in book‐entry or physical form, on which trust 

receipts or confirmations are issued, may be held by a third‐party custodial bank and/or 
institution or a designated correspondent bank which has a correspondent relationship to the 
Authority's third‐party custodian. 

10. The Controller and the Executive Director will be notified electronically by the bank of any 

deposit or withdrawal transactions $10,000 or greater.  

Withdrawals: 

1. Withdrawals from investment accounts shall only be made by wire transfer to the organization’s 
checking account by the fund holder. 

2. Withdrawals from the investment accounts that are to be transferred to the organization’s 
checking account are initiated by the Executive Director in order to meet operating cash needs, 
as approved by the Investment Advisory Committee, Executive Committee, or Board Chair as 
required by the Investment Policy section VIII. 

3. The Executive Director shall not have access to check stock, or the ability to enter transactions 
into the accounting records. However, as permitted by the Bylawspolicy, the Executive Director 
may sign checks, up to $10,000, created and entered into the accounting records by the 
Controller. 

4. Changes to withdrawal banking instructions on file with the investment account require two 
authorized signatures from the Board Chair, Treasurer, and Executive Director. 

Deposits: 

1. Deposits to the investment accounts from the organization checking account are performed by 
“repetitive” wire transfers scripts pre‐authorized with the bank wire transfer department 
utilizing the bank’s treasury management system. The treasury management system must utilize 
multi factor authentication and require two‐party initiation and approval for all transactions, as 
well as creation of, or changes to, users and user permissions. No other wire transfers are 
permitted without approval from the Board Chair and Treasurer. 

2. All wire transfers for deposits to investment accounts require two party initiation and 
authorization. The Board Chair, or the Vice Chair in the Chair’s absence,  and the Board 
Treasurer must authorize wire transfers in writing delivered directly to the Executive Director 
and the Controller. may initiate and authorize transfers of unlimited amounts subject to 
availability of funds. The Controller may initiate a repetitive wire transfers up to $50,000, but it 
must be authorized by the Board Treasurer. 

3. The Executive Director and Controller, using the bank’s treasury management system, shall 
initiate and approve the authorized wire transfer. To serve as a backup, if necessary, the Board 
Chair, Vice Chair, and Treasurer may be granted access to the bank’s treasury system to provide 
the two‐party initiation and approval of transactions.  

4. Confirmation of the executed transaction shall be delivered to the Board Chair, Vice Chair and 
Treasurer. 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 99 of 113



 

 

 
   

     

      
   

 

Attachment C3 
Page 3 of 3

The Executive Director shall advise the Board Chair and Treasurer verbally, in person or via 
telephone, the details of the wire transfer after following the investment accounts notification 
process. Email and/or text communication alone shall NOT BE sufficient to begin the wire transfer 
process. 

The Executive Director may not initiate or authorize wire transfers with the bank. 

3.5.Changes to the Wire Transfer Agreement and Repetitive Wire Transfer Instructions must be 
approved by the Board Chair and Treasurer. 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 100 of 113



Attachment D1 
Page 1 of 1

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 101 of 113



Attachment D2 
Page 1 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 102 of 113



Payment Details 

Leon County Research & Development Authority -

Attachment D2 
Page 2 of 2

REPORT TOTALS 

ACH Total Debit Amount Items Total Credit Amount Items Total Batches 

ACH (USD to USD) 36,339.69 USD 1 1 

Leon County Research & User: RONALD Report Generated: 07/12/2021 01:23:27 PM Page 2 of 2 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 103 of 113



Attachment D3 
Page 1 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 104 of 113



Attachment D3 
Page 2 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 105 of 113



Attachment D3 
Page 3 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 106 of 113



Attachment D3 
Page 4 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 107 of 113



Attachment D3 
Page 5 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 108 of 113



Attachment D3 
Page 6 of 6

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 109 of 113



Attachment D4 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 110 of 113



Attachment D4 
Page 2 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 111 of 113



Attachment D4 
Page 3 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 

Page 112 of 113



   

    

   

 

 
  

Attachment E 
Page 1 of 1

 
    

      
   

   
    

 

 

   

 
  

 
   

 
  

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

  
Leon County R&D Authority 

Executive Committee Meeting | July 20, 2021 
Page 113 of 113

https://�����D���.��

	2021-07-20 Exec Comm Agenda.pdf
	A- 2021-05-18 Exec Comm Approved DRAFT mins.pdf
	B1- RFP 21-02 Response List.pdf
	B2- Response-North Florida Asphalt.pdf
	Title page
	Table of contents
	Approach to scope of services
	Qualifications
	Completed projects
	References
	Proposal form

	B3- Response-Capital Asphalt Inc.pdf
	Title page
	Table of contents
	Approach to scope of services
	Qualifications
	Experience
	References
	Required forms

	B4- Budget_Comparison 2021-05.pdf
	B5- 2020-21 LCRDA Capital-Maintenance Budget Detail-Approved Final.pdf
	C1- Bylaws Revised 2021-08 Draft.pdf
	C2- Internal Control & Operating Procedures Draft Rev 2021-08.pdf
	C3- 20-01 Investment Procedures and Internal Controls Manual Draft Rev 2021-08.pdf
	D1- AIE Equipment Invoice-Knight Grant.pdf
	D2- ACH Payment_Redacted.pdf
	D3- Knight Foundation Grant Report 2021.pdf
	D4- Knight Foundation Check_Redacted.pdf
	E- 2021-06-30 Project Cost Estimate Current Scope.pdf



